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must meet the applicable electrical safety 
codes and standards referenced in § 851.23. 

11. NANOTECHNOLOGY SAFETY—RESERVED 

The Department has chosen to reserve this 
section since policy and procedures for nano-
technology safety are currently being devel-
oped. Once these policies and procedures 
have been approved, the rule will be amended 
to include them through a rulemaking con-
sistent with the Administrative Procedure 
Act. 

12. WORKPLACE VIOLENCE PREVENTION— 
RESERVED 

The Department has chosen to reserve this 
section since the policy and procedures for 
workplace violence prevention are currently 
being developed. Once these policies and pro-
cedures have been approved, the rule will be 
amended to include them through a rule-
making consistent with the Administrative 
Procedure Act. 

[71 FR 6931, Feb. 9, 2006; 71 FR 36661, June 28, 
2006] 

APPENDIX B TO PART 851—GENERAL 
STATEMENT OF ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

I. INTRODUCTION 

(a) This policy statement sets forth the 
general framework through which the U.S. 
Department of Energy (DOE) will seek to en-
sure compliance with its worker safety and 
health regulations, and, in particular, exer-
cise the civil penalty authority provided to 
DOE in section 3173 of Public Law 107–314, 
Bob Stump National Defense Authorization 
Act for Fiscal Year 2003 (December 2, 2002) 
(‘‘NDAA’’), amending the Atomic Energy Act 
(AEA) to add section 234C. The policy set 
forth herein is applicable to violations of 
safety and health regulations in this part by 
DOE contractors, including DOE contractors 
who are indemnified under the Price-Ander-
son Act, 42 U.S.C. 2210(d), and their sub-
contractors and suppliers (hereafter collec-
tively referred to as DOE contractors). This 
policy statement is not a regulation and is 
intended only to provide general guidance to 
those persons subject to the regulations in 
this part. It is not intended to establish a 
‘‘cookbook’’ approach to the initiation and 
resolution of situations involving non-
compliance with the regulations in this part. 
Rather, DOE intends to consider the par-
ticular facts of each noncompliance in deter-
mining whether enforcement sanctions are 
appropriate and, if so, the appropriate mag-
nitude of those sanctions. DOE may well de-
viate from this policy statement when appro-
priate in the circumstances of particular 
cases. This policy statement is not applica-
ble to activities and facilities covered under 
E.O. 12344, 42 U.S.C. 7158 note, pertaining to 

Naval Nuclear Propulsion, or otherwise ex-
cluded from the scope of the rule. 

(b) The DOE goal in the compliance arena 
is to enhance and protect the safety and 
health of workers at DOE facilities by fos-
tering a culture among both the DOE line or-
ganizations and the contractors that ac-
tively seeks to attain and sustain compli-
ance with the regulations in this part. The 
enforcement program and policy have been 
developed with the express purpose of 
achieving safety inquisitiveness and vol-
untary compliance. DOE will establish effec-
tive administrative processes and positive 
incentives to the contractors for the open 
and prompt identification and reporting of 
noncompliances, performance of effective 
root cause analysis, and initiation of com-
prehensive corrective actions to resolve both 
noncompliance conditions and program or 
process deficiencies that led to noncompli-
ance. 

(c) In the development of the DOE enforce-
ment policy, DOE recognizes that the rea-
sonable exercise of its enforcement author-
ity can help to reduce the likelihood of seri-
ous incidents. This can be accomplished by 
placing greater emphasis on a culture of 
safety in existing DOE operations, and 
strong incentives for contractors to identify 
and correct noncompliance conditions and 
processes in order to protect human health 
and the environment. DOE wants to facili-
tate, encourage, and support contractor ini-
tiatives for the prompt identification and 
correction of noncompliances. DOE will give 
due consideration to such initiatives and ac-
tivities in exercising its enforcement discre-
tion. 

(d) DOE may modify or remit civil pen-
alties in a manner consistent with the ad-
justment factors set forth in this policy with 
or without conditions. DOE will carefully 
consider the facts of each case of noncompli-
ance and will exercise appropriate discretion 
in taking any enforcement action. Part of 
the function of a sound enforcement program 
is to assure a proper and continuing level of 
safety vigilance. The reasonable exercise of 
enforcement authority will be facilitated by 
the appropriate application of safety require-
ments to DOE facilities and by promoting 
and coordinating the proper contractor and 
DOE safety compliance attitude toward 
those requirements. 

II. PURPOSE 

The purpose of the DOE enforcement pro-
gram is to promote and protect the safety 
and health of workers at DOE facilities by: 

(a) Ensuring compliance by DOE contrac-
tors with the regulations in this part. 

(b) Providing positive incentives for DOE 
contractors based on: 

(1) Timely self-identification of worker 
safety noncompliances; 
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(2) Prompt and complete reporting of such 
noncompliances to DOE; 

(3) Prompt correction of safety noncompli-
ances in a manner that precludes recurrence; 
and 

(4) Identification of modifications in prac-
tices or facilities that can improve worker 
safety and health. 

(c) Deterring future violations of DOE re-
quirements by a DOE contractor. 

(d) Encouraging the continuous overall im-
provement of operations at DOE facilities. 

III. STATUTORY AUTHORITY 

The Department of Energy Organization 
Act, 42 U.S.C. 7101–7385o, the Energy Reorga-
nization Act of 1974 (ERA), 42 U.S.C. 5801– 
5911, and the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as 
amended, (AEA) 42 U.S.C. 2011, require DOE 
to protect the public safety and health, as 
well as the safety and health of workers at 
DOE facilities, in conducting its activities, 
and grant DOE broad authority to achieve 
this goal. Section 234C of the AEA makes 
DOE contractors (and their subcontractors 
and suppliers thereto) covered by the DOE 
Price-Anderson indemnification system, sub-
ject to civil penalties for violations of the 
worker safety and health requirements pro-
mulgated in this part. 42 U.S.C. 2282c. 

IV. RESPONSIBILITIES 

(a) The Director, as the principal enforce-
ment officer of the DOE, has been delegated 
the authority to: 

(1) Conduct enforcement inspections, in-
vestigations, and conferences; 

(2) Issue Notices of Violations and proposed 
civil penalties, Enforcement Letters, Con-
sent Orders, and subpoenas; and 

(3) Issue orders to compel attendance and 
disclosure of information or documents ob-
tained during an investigation or inspection. 
The Secretary issues Compliance Orders. 

(b) The NNSA Administrator, rather than 
the Director, signs, issues and serves the fol-
lowing actions that direct NNSA contrac-
tors: 

(1) Subpoenas; 
(2) Orders to compel attendance; and 
(3) Determines to disclose information or 

documents obtained during an investigation 
or inspection, PNOVs, Notices of Violations, 
and Final Notices of Violations. The NNSA 
Administrator acts after consideration of the 
Director’s recommendation. 

V. PROCEDURAL FRAMEWORK 

(a) Title 10 CFR part 851 sets forth the pro-
cedures DOE will use in exercising its en-
forcement authority, including the issuance 
of Notices of Violation and the resolution of 
an administrative appeal in the event a DOE 
contractor elects to petition the Office of 
Hearings and Appeals for review. 

(b) Pursuant to 10 CFR part 851 subpart E, 
the Director initiates the enforcement proc-
ess by initiating and conducting investiga-
tions and inspections and issuing a Prelimi-
nary Notice of Violation (PNOV) with or 
without a proposed civil penalty. The DOE 
contractor is required to respond in writing 
to the PNOV within 30 days, either: (1) Ad-
mitting the violation and waiving its right 
to contest the proposed civil penalty and 
paying it; (2) admitting the violation but as-
serting the existence of mitigating cir-
cumstances that warrant either the total or 
partial remission of the civil penalty; or (3) 
denying that the violation has occurred and 
providing the basis for its belief that the 
PNOV is incorrect. After evaluation of the 
DOE contractor’s response, the Director may 
determine: (1) That no violation has oc-
curred; (2) that the violation occurred as al-
leged in the PNOV but that the proposed 
civil penalty should be remitted in whole or 
in part; or (3) that the violation occurred as 
alleged in the PNOV and that the proposed 
civil penalty is appropriate, notwithstanding 
the asserted mitigating circumstances. In 
the latter two instances, the Director will 
issue a Final Notice of Violation (FNOV) or 
an FNOV and proposed civil penalty. 

(c) An opportunity to challenge an FNOV 
is provided in administrative appeal provi-
sions. See 10 CFR 851.44. Any contractor that 
receives an FNOV may petition the Office of 
Hearings and Appeals for review of the final 
notice in accordance with 10 CFR part 1003, 
Subpart G, within 30 calendar days from re-
ceipt of the final notice. An administrative 
appeal proceeding is not initiated until the 
DOE contractor against which an FNOV has 
been issued requests an administrative hear-
ing rather than waiving its right to contest 
the FNOV and proposed civil penalty, if any, 
and paying the civil penalty. However, it 
should be emphasized that DOE encourages 
the voluntary resolution of a noncompliance 
situation at any time, either informally 
prior to the initiation of the enforcement 
process or by consent order before or after 
any formal proceeding has begun. 

VI. SEVERITY OF VIOLATIONS 

(a) Violations of the worker safety and 
health requirements in this part have vary-
ing degrees of safety and health significance. 
Therefore, the relative safety and health risk 
of each violation must be identified as the 
first step in the enforcement process. Viola-
tions of the worker safety and health re-
quirements are categorized in two levels of 
severity to identify their relative serious-
ness. Notices of Violation issued for non-
compliance when appropriate, propose civil 
penalties commensurate with the severity 
level of the violations involved. 

(b) To assess the potential safety and 
health impact of a particular violation, DOE 
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will categorize the potential severity of vio-
lations of worker safety and health require-
ments as follows: 

(1) A Severity Level I violation is a serious 
violation. A serious violation shall be 
deemed to exist in a place of employment if 
there is a potential that death or serious 
physical harm could result from a condition 
which exists, or from one or more practices, 
means, methods, operations, or processes 
which have been adopted or are in use, in 
such place of employment. A Severity Level 
I violation would be subject to a base civil 
penalty of up to 100% of the maximum base 
civil penalty of $75,000. 

(2) A Severity Level II violation is an 
other-than-serious violation. An other-than- 
serious violation occurs where the most seri-
ous injury or illness that would potentially 
result from a hazardous condition cannot 
reasonably be predicted to cause death or se-
rious physical harm to employees but does 
have a direct relationship to their safety and 
health. A Severity Level II violation would 
be subject to a base civil penalty up to 50% 
of the maximum base civil penalty ($37,500). 

(c) De minimis violations, defined as a de-
viation from the requirement of a standard 
that has no direct or immediate relationship 
to safety or health, will not be the subject of 
formal enforcement action through the 
issuance of a Notice of Violation. 

VII. ENFORCEMENT CONFERENCES 

(a) The purpose of the enforcement con-
ference is to: 

(1) Assure the accuracy of the facts upon 
which the preliminary determination to con-
sider enforcement action is based; 

(2) Discuss the potential or alleged viola-
tions, their significance and causes, and the 
nature of and schedule for the DOE contrac-
tor’s corrective actions; 

(3) Determine whether there are any aggra-
vating or mitigating circumstances; and 

(4) Obtain other information which will 
help determine whether enforcement action 
is appropriate and, if so, the extent of that 
enforcement action. 

(b) All enforcement conferences are con-
vened at the discretion of the Director. 

(c) The PNOV will normally be issued 
promptly, before the opportunity for an en-
forcement conference, following the inspec-
tion/investigation. In some cases an enforce-
ment conference may be conducted onsite at 
the conclusion of an inspection/investiga-
tion. 

(d) The contractor may request an enforce-
ment conference if they believe additional 
information pertinent to the enforcement 
action could best be conveyed through a 
meeting. 

(e) DOE contractors will be informed prior 
to a meeting when that meeting is consid-
ered to be an enforcement conference. Such 
conferences are informal mechanisms for 

candid discussions regarding potential or al-
leged violations and will not normally be 
open to the public. In circumstances for 
which immediate enforcement action is nec-
essary in the interest of worker safety and 
health, such action will be taken prior to the 
enforcement conference, which may still be 
held after the necessary DOE action has been 
taken. 

VIII. ENFORCEMENT LETTER 

(a) In cases where DOE has decided not to 
conduct an investigation or inspection or 
issue a Preliminary Notice of Violation 
(PNOV), DOE may send an Enforcement Let-
ter, signed by the Director to the contractor. 
The Enforcement Letter is intended to com-
municate the basis of the decision not to 
pursue enforcement action for a noncompli-
ance. The Enforcement Letter is intended to 
direct contractors to the desired level of 
worker safety and health performance. It 
may be used when DOE concludes that the 
specific noncompliance at issue is not of the 
level of significance warranted to conduct an 
investigation or inspection or for issuance of 
a PNOV. Even where a noncompliance may 
be significant, the Enforcement Letter may 
recognize that the contractor’s actions may 
have attenuated the need for enforcement 
action. The Enforcement Letter will typi-
cally recognize how the contractor handled 
the circumstances surrounding the non-
compliance, address additional areas requir-
ing the contractor’s attention, and address 
DOE’s expectations for corrective action. 

(b) In general, Enforcement Letters com-
municate DOE’s expectations with respect to 
any aspect of the requirements of this part, 
including identification and reporting of 
issues, corrective actions, and implementa-
tion of the contractor’s safety and health 
program. DOE might, for example, wish to 
recognize some action of the contractor that 
is of particular benefit to worker safety and 
health that is a candidate for emulation by 
other contractors. On the other hand, DOE 
may wish to bring a program shortcoming to 
the attention of the contractor that, but for 
the lack of worker safety and health signifi-
cance of the immediate issue, might have re-
sulted in the issuance of a PNOV. An En-
forcement Letter is not an enforcement ac-
tion. 

(c) With respect to many noncompliances, 
an Enforcement Letter may not be required. 
When DOE decides that a contractor has ap-
propriately corrected a noncompliance or 
that the significance of the noncompliance is 
sufficiently low, it may close out its review 
simply through an annotation in the DOE 
Noncompliance Tracking System (NTS). A 
closeout of a noncompliance with or without 
an Enforcement Letter may only take place 
after DOE has confirmed that corrective ac-
tions have been completed. 
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IX. ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS 

(a) This section describes the enforcement 
sanctions available to DOE and specifies the 
conditions under which each may be used. 
The basic sanctions are Notices of Violation 
and civil penalties. 

(b) The nature and extent of the enforce-
ment action is intended to reflect the seri-
ousness of the violation. For the vast major-
ity of violations for which DOE assigns se-
verity levels as described previously, a No-
tice of Violation will be issued, requiring a 
formal response from the recipient describ-
ing the nature of and schedule for corrective 
actions it intends to take regarding the vio-
lation. 

1. Notice of Violation 

(a) A Notice of Violation (either a Prelimi-
nary or Final Notice) is a document setting 
forth the conclusion of DOE and the basis to 
support the conclusion, that one or more vio-
lations of the worker safety and health re-
quirements have occurred. Such a notice 
normally requires the recipient to provide a 
written response which may take one of sev-
eral positions described in section V of this 
policy statement. In the event that the re-
cipient concedes the occurrence of the viola-
tion, it is required to describe corrective 
steps which have been taken and the results 
achieved; remedial actions which will be 
taken to prevent recurrence; and the date by 
which full compliance will be achieved. 

(b) DOE will use the Notice of Violation as 
the standard method for formalizing the ex-
istence of a violation and, in appropriate 
cases as described in this section, the Notice 
of Violation will be issued in conjunction 
with the proposed imposition of a civil pen-
alty. In certain limited instances, as de-
scribed in this section, DOE may refrain 
from the issuance of an otherwise appro-
priate Notice of Violation. However, a Notice 
of Violation will virtually always be issued 
for willful violations, or if past corrective 
actions for similar violations have not been 
sufficient to prevent recurrence and there 
are no other mitigating circumstances. 

(c) DOE contractors are not ordinarily 
cited for violations resulting from matters 
not within their control, such as equipment 
failures that were not avoidable by reason-
able quality assurance measures, proper 
maintenance, or management controls. With 
regard to the issue of funding, however, DOE 
does not consider an asserted lack of funding 
to be a justification for noncompliance with 
the worker safety and health requirements. 

(d) DOE expects its contractors to have the 
proper management and supervisory systems 
in place to assure that all activities at cov-
ered workplaces, regardless of who performs 
them, are carried out in compliance with all 
the worker safety and health requirements. 
Therefore, contractors are normally held re-

sponsible for the acts of their employees and 
subcontractor employees in the conduct of 
activities at covered workplaces. Accord-
ingly, this policy should not be construed to 
excuse personnel errors. 

(e) The limitations on remedies under sec-
tion 234C will be implemented as follows: 

(1) DOE may assess civil penalties of up to 
$75,000 per violation per day on contractors 
(and their subcontractors and suppliers) that 
are indemnified by the Price-Anderson Act, 
42 U.S.C. 2210(d). See 10 CFR 851.5(a). 

(2) DOE may seek contract fee reductions 
through the contract’s Conditional Payment 
of Fee Clause in the Department of Energy 
Acquisition Regulation (DEAR). See 10 CFR 
851.4(b); 48 CFR parts 923, 952, 970. Policies for 
contract fee reductions are not established 
by this policy statement. The Director and 
appropriate contracting officers will coordi-
nate their efforts in compliance with the 
statute. See 10 CFR 851.5(b). 

(3) For the same violation of a worker safe-
ty and health requirement in this part, DOE 
may pursue either civil penalties (for indem-
nified contractors and their subcontractors 
and suppliers) or a contract fee reduction, 
but not both. See 10 CFR 851.5(c). 

(4) A ceiling applies to civil penalties as-
sessed on certain contractors specifically 
listed in 170d. of the Atomic Energy Act, 42 
U.S.C. 2282a(d), for activities conducted at 
specified facilities. For these contractors, 
the total amount of civil penalties and con-
tract penalties in a fiscal year may not ex-
ceed the total amount of fees paid by DOE to 
that entity in that fiscal year. See 10 CFR 
851.5(d). 

2. Civil Penalty 

(a) A civil penalty is a monetary penalty 
that may be imposed for violations of re-
quirements of this part. See 10 CFR 851.5(a). 
Civil penalties are designed to emphasize the 
need for lasting remedial action, deter future 
violations, and underscore the importance of 
DOE contractor self-identification, report-
ing, and correction of violations of the work-
er safety and health requirements in this 
part. 

(b) Absent mitigating circumstances as de-
scribed below, or circumstances otherwise 
warranting the exercise of enforcement dis-
cretion by DOE as described in this section, 
civil penalties will be proposed for Severity 
Level I and II violations. 

(c) DOE will impose different base level 
penalties considering the severity level of 
the violation. Table A–1 shows the daily base 
civil penalties for the various categories of 
severity levels. However, as described below 
in section IX, paragraph b.3, the imposition 
of civil penalties will also take into account 
the gravity, circumstances, and extent of the 
violation or violations and, with respect to 
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the violator, any history of prior similar vio-
lations and the degree of culpability and 
knowledge. 

(d) Enforcement personnel will use risk- 
based criteria to assist the Director in deter-
mining appropriate civil penalties for viola-
tions found during investigations and inspec-
tions. 

(e) Regarding the factor of ability of DOE 
contractors to pay the civil penalties, it is 
not DOE’s intention that the economic im-
pact of a civil penalty be such that it puts a 
DOE contractor out of business. Contract 
termination, rather than civil penalties, is 
used when the intent is to terminate these 
activities. The deterrent effect of civil pen-
alties is best served when the amount of such 
penalties takes this factor into account. 
However, DOE will evaluate the relationship 
of affiliated entities to the contractor (such 
as parent corporations) when the contractor 
asserts that it cannot pay the proposed pen-
alty. 

(f) DOE will review each case on its own 
merits and adjust the base civil penalty val-
ues upward or downward. As indicated below, 
Table A–1 identifies the daily base civil pen-
alty values for different severity levels. 
After considering all relevant circumstances, 
civil penalties may be adjusted up or down 
based on the mitigating or aggravating fac-
tors described later in this section. In no in-
stance will a civil penalty for any one viola-
tion exceed the statutory limit of $75,000 per 
day. In cases where the DOE contractor had 
knowledge of a violation and has not re-
ported it to DOE and taken corrective action 
despite an opportunity to do so, DOE will 
consider utilizing its per day civil penalty 
authority. Further, as described in this sec-
tion, the duration of a violation will be 
taken into account in adjusting the base 
civil penalty. 

TABLE A–1—SEVERITY LEVEL BASE CIVIL 
PENALTIES 

Severity level 

Base civil penalty 
amount (Percent-
age of maximum 
per violation per 

day) 

I .................................................................. 100 
II ................................................................. 50 

3. Adjustment Factors 

(a) DOE may reduce a penalty based on 
mitigating circumstances or increase a pen-
alty based on aggravating circumstances. 
DOE’s enforcement program is not an end in 
itself, but a means to achieve compliance 
with the worker safety and health require-
ments in this part. Civil penalties are in-
tended to emphasize the importance of com-
pliance and to deter future violations. The 
single most important goal of the DOE en-

forcement program is to encourage early 
identification and reporting of violations of 
the worker safety and health requirements 
in this part by the DOE contractors them-
selves rather than by DOE, and the prompt 
correction of any violations so identified. 
DOE believes that DOE contractors are in 
the best position to identify and promptly 
correct noncompliance with the worker safe-
ty and health requirements in this part. DOE 
expects that these contractors should have 
in place internal compliance programs which 
will ensure the detection, reporting, and 
prompt correction of conditions that may 
constitute, or lead to, violations of the work-
er safety and health requirements in this 
part, before, rather than after, DOE has iden-
tified such violations. Thus, DOE contrac-
tors should almost always be aware of work-
er safety and health noncompliances before 
they are discovered by DOE. Obviously, 
worker safety and health is enhanced if non-
compliances are discovered (and promptly 
corrected) by the DOE contractor, rather 
than by DOE, which may not otherwise be-
come aware of a noncompliance until later, 
during the course of an inspection, perform-
ance assessment, or following an incident at 
the facility. Early identification of worker 
safety and health-related noncompliances by 
DOE contractors has the added benefit of al-
lowing information that could prevent such 
noncompliances at other facilities in the 
DOE complex to be shared with other appro-
priate DOE contractors. 

(b) Pursuant to this enforcement philos-
ophy, DOE will provide substantial incentive 
for the early self-identification, reporting, 
and prompt correction of conditions which 
constitute, or could lead to, violations of the 
worker safety and health requirements. 
Thus, the civil penalty may be reduced for 
violations that are identified, reported, and 
promptly and effectively corrected by the 
DOE contractor. 

(c) On the other hand, ineffective programs 
for problem identification and correction are 
aggravating circumstances and may increase 
the penalty amount. Thus, for example, 
where a contractor fails to disclose and 
promptly correct violations of which it was 
aware or should have been aware, substantial 
civil penalties are warranted and may be 
sought, including the assessment of civil 
penalties for continuing violations on a per 
day basis. 

(d) Further, in cases involving factors of 
willfulness, repeated violations, death, seri-
ous injury, patterns of systemic violations, 
DOE-identified flagrant violations, repeated 
poor performance in an area of concern, or 
serious breakdown in management controls, 
DOE intends to apply its full statutory en-
forcement authority where such action is 
warranted. 

(e) Additionally, adjustment to the amount 
of civil penalty will be dependent, in part, on 
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the degree of culpability of the DOE con-
tractor with regard to the violation. Thus, 
inadvertent violations will be viewed dif-
ferently from those in which there is gross 
negligence, deception, or willfulness. In addi-
tion to the severity of the underlying viola-
tion and level of culpability involved, DOE 
will also consider the position, training and 
experience of those involved in the violation. 
Thus, for example, a violation may be 
deemed to be more significant if a senior 
manager of an organization is involved rath-
er than a foreman or non-supervisory em-
ployee. 

(f) Other factors that will be considered in 
determining the civil penalty amount are 
the duration of the violation (how long the 
condition has presented a potential exposure 
to workers), the extent of the condition 
(number of instances of the violation), the 
frequency of the exposure (how often work-
ers are exposed), the proximity of the work-
ers to the exposure, and the past history of 
similar violations. 

(g) DOE expects contractors to provide 
full, complete, timely, and accurate informa-
tion and reports. Accordingly, the penalty 
amount for a violation involving either a 
failure to make a required report or notifica-
tion to the DOE or an untimely report or no-
tification, will be based upon the cir-
cumstances surrounding the matter that 
should have been reported. A contractor will 
not normally be cited for a failure to report 
a condition or event unless the contractor 
was aware or should have been aware of the 
condition or event that it failed to report. 

4. Identification and Reporting 

Reduction of up to 50% of the base civil 
penalty shown in Table A–1 may be given 
when a DOE contractor identifies the viola-
tion and promptly reports the violation to 
the DOE. Consideration will be given to, 
among other things, the opportunity avail-
able to discover the violation, the ease of 
discovery and the promptness and complete-
ness of any required report. No consideration 
will be given to a reduction in penalty if the 
DOE contractor does not take prompt action 
to report the problem to DOE upon dis-
covery, or if the immediate actions nec-
essary to restore compliance with the work-
er safety and health requirements are not 
taken. 

5. Self-Identification and Tracking Systems 

(a) DOE strongly encourages contractors 
to self-identify noncompliances with the 
worker safety and health requirements be-
fore the noncompliances lead to a string of 
similar and potentially more significant 
events or consequences. When a contractor 
identifies a noncompliance, DOE will nor-
mally allow a reduction in the amount of 
civil penalties, unless prior opportunities ex-

isted for contractors to identify the non-
compliance. DOE will normally not allow a 
reduction in civil penalties for self-identi-
fication if significant DOE intervention was 
required to induce the contractor to report a 
noncompliance. 

(b) Self-identification of a noncompliance 
is possibly the single most important factor 
in considering a reduction in the civil pen-
alty amount. Consideration of self-identi-
fication is linked to, among other things, 
whether prior opportunities existed to dis-
cover the violation, and if so, the age and 
number of such opportunities; the extent to 
which proper contractor controls should 
have identified or prevented the violation; 
whether discovery of the violation resulted 
from a contractor’s self-monitoring activity; 
the extent of DOE involvement in discov-
ering the violation or in prompting the con-
tractor to identify the violation; and the 
promptness and completeness of any re-
quired report. Self-identification is also con-
sidered by DOE in deciding whether to pur-
sue an investigation. 

(c) DOE will use the voluntary Noncompli-
ance Tracking System (NTS) which allows 
contractors to elect to report noncompli-
ances. In the guidance document supporting 
the NTS, DOE will establish reporting 
thresholds for reporting noncompliances of 
potentially greater worker safety and health 
significance into the NTS. Contractors are 
expected, however, to use their own self- 
tracking systems to track noncompliances 
below the reporting threshold. This self- 
tracking is considered to be acceptable self- 
reporting as long as DOE has access to the 
contractor’s system and the contractor’s 
system notes the item as a noncompliance 
with a DOE safety and health requirement. 
For noncompliances that are below the NTS 
reportability thresholds, DOE will credit 
contractor self-tracking as representing self- 
reporting. If an item is not reported in NTS 
but only tracked in the contractor’s system 
and DOE subsequently determines that the 
noncompliance was significantly 
mischaracterized, DOE will not credit the in-
ternal tracking as representing appropriate 
self-reporting. 

6. Self-Disclosing Events 

(a) DOE expects contractors to dem-
onstrate acceptance of responsibility for 
worker safety and health by proactively 
identifying noncompliances. When the occur-
rence of an event discloses noncompliances 
that the contractor could have or should 
have identified before the event, DOE will 
not generally reduce civil penalties for self- 
identification, even if the underlying non-
compliances were reported to DOE. In decid-
ing whether to reduce any civil penalty pro-
posed for violations revealed by the occur-
rence of a self-disclosing event, DOE will 
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consider the ease with which a contractor 
could have discovered the noncompliance 
and the prior opportunities that existed to 
discover the noncompliance. If a contractor 
simply reacts to events that disclose poten-
tially significant consequences or downplays 
noncompliances which did not result in sig-
nificant consequences to worker safety and 
health, such contractor actions do not con-
stitute the type of proactive behavior nec-
essary to prevent significant events from oc-
curring and thereby to improve worker safe-
ty and health. 

(b) The key test is whether the contractor 
reasonably could have detected any of the 
underlying noncompliances that contributed 
to the event. Examples of events that pro-
vide opportunities to identify noncompli-
ances include, but are not limited to: 

(1) Prior notifications of potential prob-
lems such as those from DOE operational ex-
perience publications or vendor equipment 
deficiency reports; 

(2) Normal surveillance, quality assurance 
performance assessments, and post-mainte-
nance testing; 

(3) Readily observable parameter trends; 
and 

(4) Contractor employee or DOE observa-
tions of potential worker safety and health 
problems. 

(c) Failure to utilize these types of events 
and activities to address noncompliances 
may result in higher civil penalty assess-
ments or a DOE decision not to reduce civil 
penalty amounts. 

(d) Alternatively, if, following a self-dis-
closing event, DOE finds that the contrac-
tor’s processes and procedures were adequate 
and the contractor’s personnel generally be-
haved in a manner consistent with the con-
tractor’s processes and procedures, DOE 
could conclude that the contractor could not 
have been reasonably expected to find the 
single noncompliance that led to the event 
and thus, might allow a reduction in civil 
penalties. 

7. Corrective Action To Prevent Recurrence 

The promptness (or lack thereof) and ex-
tent to which the DOE contractor takes cor-
rective action, including actions to identify 
root cause and prevent recurrence, may re-
sult in an increase or decrease in the base 
civil penalty shown in Table A–1. For exam-
ple, appropriate corrective action may result 
in DOE’s reducing the proposed civil penalty 
up to 50% from the base value shown in 
Table A–1. On the other hand, the civil pen-
alty may be increased if initiation of correc-
tive action is not prompt or if the corrective 
action is only minimally acceptable. In 
weighing this factor, consideration will be 
given to, among other things, the appro-
priateness, timeliness and degree of initia-
tive associated with the corrective action. 
The comprehensiveness of the corrective ac-

tion will also be considered, taking into ac-
count factors such as whether the action is 
focused narrowly to the specific violation or 
broadly to the general area of concern. 

8. DOE’s Contribution to a Violation 

There may be circumstances in which a 
violation of a DOE worker safety and health 
requirement results, in part or entirely, from 
a direction given by DOE personnel to a DOE 
contractor to either take or forbear from 
taking an action at a DOE facility. In such 
cases, DOE may refrain from issuing an 
NOV, or may mitigate, either partially or 
entirely, any proposed civil penalty, pro-
vided that the direction upon which the DOE 
contractor relied is documented in writing, 
contemporaneously with the direction. It 
should be emphasized, however, that pursu-
ant to 10 CFR 851.7, interpretative ruling of 
a requirement of this part must be issued in 
accordance with the provisions of 851.7 to be 
binding. Further, as discussed above in this 
policy statement, lack of funding by itself 
will not be considered as a mitigating factor 
in enforcement actions. 

9. Exercise of Discretion 

Because DOE wants to encourage and sup-
port DOE contractor initiative for prompt 
self-identification, reporting and correction 
of noncompliances, DOE may exercise discre-
tion as follows: 

(a) In accordance with the previous discus-
sion, DOE may refrain from issuing a civil 
penalty for a violation that meets all of the 
following criteria: 

(1) The violation is promptly identified and 
reported to DOE before DOE learns of it or 
the violation is identified by a DOE inde-
pendent assessment, inspection or other for-
mal program effort. 

(2) The violation is not willful or is not a 
violation that could reasonably be expected 
to have been prevented by the DOE contrac-
tor’s corrective action for a previous viola-
tion. 

(3) The DOE contractor, upon discovery of 
the violation, has taken or begun to take 
prompt and appropriate action to correct the 
violation. 

(4) The DOE contractor has taken, or has 
agreed to take, remedial action satisfactory 
to DOE to preclude recurrence of the viola-
tion and the underlying conditions that 
caused it. 

(b) DOE will not issue a Notice of Violation 
for cases in which the violation discovered 
by the DOE contractor cannot reasonably be 
linked to the conduct of that contractor in 
the design, construction or operation of the 
DOE facility involved, provided that prompt 
and appropriate action is taken by the DOE 
contractor upon identification of the past 
violation to report to DOE and remedy the 
problem. 
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(c) In situations where corrective actions 
have been completed before termination of 
an inspection or assessment, a formal re-
sponse from the contractor is not required 
and the inspection report serves to document 
the violation and the corrective action. How-
ever, in all instances, the contractor is re-
quired to report the noncompliance through 
established reporting mechanisms so the 
noncompliance and any corrective actions 
can be properly tracked and monitored. 

(d) If DOE initiates an enforcement action 
for a violation, and as part of the corrective 
action for that violation, the DOE con-
tractor identifies other examples of the vio-
lation with the same root cause, DOE may 
refrain from initiating an additional enforce-
ment action. In determining whether to ex-
ercise this discretion, DOE will consider 
whether the DOE contractor acted reason-
ably and in a timely manner appropriate to 
the severity of the initial violation, the com-
prehensiveness of the corrective action, 
whether the matter was reported, and wheth-
er the additional violation(s) substantially 
change the significance or character of the 
concern arising out of the initial violation. 

(e) The preceding paragraphs are examples 
indicating when enforcement discretion may 
be exercised to forego the issuance of a civil 
penalty or, in some cases, the initiation of 
any enforcement action at all. However, not-
withstanding these examples, a civil penalty 
may be proposed or Notice of Violation 
issued when, in DOE’s judgment, such action 
is warranted. 

X. INACCURATE AND INCOMPLETE INFORMATION 

(a) A violation of the worker safety and 
health requirements to provide complete and 
accurate information to DOE, 10 CFR 851.40, 
can result in the full range of enforcement 
sanctions, depending upon the circumstances 
of the particular case and consideration of 
the factors discussed in this section. Viola-
tions involving inaccurate or incomplete in-
formation or the failure to provide signifi-
cant information identified by a DOE con-
tractor normally will be categorized based 
on the guidance in section IX, ‘‘Enforcement 
Actions.’’ 

(b) DOE recognizes that oral information 
may in some situations be inherently less re-
liable than written submittals because of the 
absence of an opportunity for reflection and 
management review. However, DOE must be 
able to rely on oral communications from of-
ficials of DOE contractors concerning sig-
nificant information. In determining wheth-
er to take enforcement action for an oral 
statement, consideration will be given to 
such factors as: 

(1) The degree of knowledge that the com-
municator should have had regarding the 
matter in view of his or her position, train-
ing, and experience; 

(2) The opportunity and time available 
prior to the communication to assure the ac-
curacy or completeness of the information; 

(3) The degree of intent or negligence, if 
any, involved; 

(4) The formality of the communication; 
(5) The reasonableness of DOE reliance on 

the information; 
(6) The importance of the information that 

was wrong or not provided; and 
(7) The reasonableness of the explanation 

for not providing complete and accurate in-
formation. 

(c) Absent gross negligence or willfulness, 
an incomplete or inaccurate oral statement 
normally will not be subject to enforcement 
action unless it involves significant informa-
tion provided by an official of a DOE con-
tractor. However, enforcement action may 
be taken for an unintentionally incomplete 
or inaccurate oral statement provided to 
DOE by an official of a DOE contractor or 
others on behalf of the DOE contractor, if a 
record was made of the oral information and 
provided to the DOE contractor thereby per-
mitting an opportunity to correct the oral 
information, such as if a transcript of the 
communication or meeting summary con-
taining the error was made available to the 
DOE contractor and was not subsequently 
corrected in a timely manner. 

(d) When a DOE contractor has corrected 
inaccurate or incomplete information, the 
decision to issue a citation for the initial in-
accurate or incomplete information nor-
mally will be dependent on the cir-
cumstances, including the ease of detection 
of the error, the timeliness of the correction, 
whether DOE or the DOE contractor identi-
fied the problem with the communication, 
and whether DOE relied on the information 
prior to the correction. Generally, if the 
matter was promptly identified and cor-
rected by the DOE contractor prior to reli-
ance by DOE, or before DOE raised a ques-
tion about the information, no enforcement 
action will be taken for the initial inac-
curate or incomplete information. On the 
other hand, if the misinformation is identi-
fied after DOE relies on it, or after some 
question is raised regarding the accuracy of 
the information, then some enforcement ac-
tion normally will be taken even if it is in 
fact corrected. 

(e) If the initial submission was accurate 
when made but later turns out to be erro-
neous because of newly discovered informa-
tion or advances in technology, a citation 
normally would not be appropriate if, when 
the new information became available, the 
initial submission was promptly corrected. 
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(f) The failure to correct inaccurate or in-
complete information that the DOE con-
tractor does not identify as significant nor-
mally will not constitute a separate viola-
tion. However, the circumstances sur-
rounding the failure to correct may be con-
sidered relevant to the determination of en-
forcement action for the initial inaccurate 
or incomplete statement. For example, an 
unintentionally inaccurate or incomplete 
submission may be treated as a more severe 
matter if a DOE contractor later determines 
that the initial submission was in error and 
does not promptly correct it or if there were 
clear opportunities to identify the error. 

[71 FR 6931, Feb. 9, 2006, as amended at 74 FR 
66033, Dec. 14, 2009] 

PART 860—TRESPASSING ON DE-
PARTMENT OF ENERGY PROP-
ERTY 

Sec. 
860.1 Purpose. 
860.2 Scope. 
860.3 Trespass. 
860.4 Unauthorized introduction of weapons 

or dangerous materials. 
860.5 Violations and penalties. 
860.6 Posting. 
860.7 Effective date of prohibition on des-

ignated locations. 
860.8 Applicability of other laws. 

AUTHORITY: Sec. 161, 68 Stat. 948, sec. 229, 70 
Stat. 1070; (42 U.S.C. 2201; 2278a); sec. 104, 88 
Stat. 1237, sec. 105, 88 Stat. 1238 (42 U.S.C. 
5814, 5815); sec. 5, Pub. L. 100–185, 101 Stat. 
1279 (18 U.S.C. 3559); sec. 6, Pub. L. 100–185, 101 
Stat. 1280 (18 U.S.C. 3571); sec. 7041, Pub. L. 
100–690, 102 Stat. 4899 (18 U.S.C. 3559). 

SOURCE: 58 FR 47985, Sept. 14, 1993, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 860.1 Purpose. 

The regulations in this part are 
issued for the protection and security 
of facilities, installations and real 
property subject to the jurisdiction or 
administration, or in the custody of, 
the Department of Energy. 

§ 860.2 Scope. 

The regulations in this part apply to 
all facilities, installations and real 
property subject to the jurisdiction or 
administration of the Department of 
Energy or in its custody which have 
been posted with a notice of the prohi-
bitions and penalties set forth in this 
part. 

§ 860.3 Trespass. 
Unauthorized entry upon any facil-

ity, installation or real property sub-
ject to this part is prohibited. 

§ 860.4 Unauthorized introduction of 
weapons or dangerous materials. 

Unauthorized carrying, transporting, 
or otherwise introducing or causing to 
be introduced any dangerous weapon, 
explosive, or other dangerous instru-
ment or material likely to produce 
substantial injury or damage to per-
sons or property, into or upon any fa-
cility, installation or real property 
subject to this part, is prohibited. 

§ 860.5 Violations and penalties. 
(a) Whoever willfully violates either 

§ 860.3 or § 860.4 shall, upon conviction, 
be guilty of an infraction punishable by 
a fine of not more than $5,000. 

(b) Whoever willfully violates either 
§ 860.3 or § 860.4 with respect to any fa-
cility, installation or real property en-
closed by a fence, wall, floor, roof, or 
other structural barrier shall upon con-
viction, be guilty of a Class A mis-
demeanor punishable by a fine not to 
exceed $100,000 or imprisonment for not 
more than one year, or both. 

§ 860.6 Posting. 
Notices stating the pertinent prohibi-

tions of §§ 860.3 and 860.4 and penalties 
of § 860.5 will be conspicuously posted 
at all entrances of each designated fa-
cility, installation or parcel of real 
property and at such intervals along 
the perimeter as will provide reason-
able assurance of notice to persons 
about to enter. 

§ 860.7 Effective date of prohibition on 
designated locations. 

The prohibitions in §§ 860.3 and 860.4 
shall take effect as to any facility, in-
stallation or real property on publica-
tion in the FEDERAL REGISTER of the 
notice designating the facility, instal-
lation or real property and posting in 
accordance with § 860.6. 

§ 860.8 Applicability of other laws. 
Nothing in this part shall be con-

strued to affect the applicability of the 
provisions of State or other Federal 
laws. 
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